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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
SCOTT MARQUETTE, an individual, \?IG\EE NO. 13¢cv2719-WQH-

Plaintiff,
VS. ORDER

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A, f/k/a
Countrywide Home Loans, Inc., an
entity of unknown form; FEDERAL
HOME LOAN MORTGAGE
CORPORATION S/A-3 DAY ARC-
125949, an entity of unknown form;
MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC
REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC,;
and DOES 1-10, inclusive,

Defendants

HAYES, Judge:
The matter before the Court is the Mutito Dismiss Plaintiff’'s First Amends
Complaint filed by all Defendants. (ECF No. 21).
l. Background
On November 12, 2013, Plaintiff StdMarquette commenced this action
filing a Complaint in this Court. (ECNo. 1). On March 32014, Defendants Bank
America, N.A. (“Bank of America”), Federal Home Loan Myage Corporation S/A-
day ARC-125949 (“Freddie Mac”), and Mortgage Electronic Registration System
(“MERS”) filed a motion to dismiss the Comaint. (ECF No. 9). On July 30, 201
the Court issued an Order dismissing then@laint without prejudice. (ECF No. 13
On October 3, 2014, Plaintiff filed tiérst Amended Complaint (“FAC”), whic
Is the operative pleadindECF No. 20). On Octobdr7, 2014, Defendds filed the
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Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's First AmendeComplaint, accompanied by a Request for
Judicial Notice. (ECF Nd21). On November 10, 2014, Plaintiff filed an opposition.

(ECF No. 22). On November 17, 2014, Defants filed a reply. (ECF No. 24).
1. Allegationsof the FAC

On May 24, 2007, Plaintiff entered intewo “consumer credit transactions”
“refinance his principal dwelling/residee located at 2625 Pirineos Way, #2

to
28,

Carlsbad, California 92009, by signing twapnssory notes payable to Mortgage

Investors Group, the originag lender.” (ECF No. 20 at 6)he first promissory not

e

in the amount of $324,000.00 was secured by a first deed of trust against Plaintiff

residence (the “First Loan”). The s&w promissory note in the amount of $72,000.00

was secured by a second deed of trust ag@iamtiff's residence (the “Second Loan

The funds from the transactions were usgohy off the existing mortgages secured by

Plaintiff's residence, “which were origated by a different creditor, First Frankli

Home Loans, and not M@age Investors Groupld. at 7. “The Transactions did n
involve new advances, nor did the Transatiinvolve new credit being given by Fi
Franklin Home Loans, the creditorrfthe existing prior mortgages.ld. “The

Transactions were subjectadinance charge and wepayable by written agreement

in more than four installments.Id.

“On May 24, 2007, Plaintiff met with motary public and a mortgage brokef
the mortgage broker’s office in Encinitas, Californidd’ at 8. The mortgage brok
had Plaintiff sign numerous documents relateth&loan transactions at issue.
documents signed by Plaintiffere taken by the mortgadpeoker, and the mortgag
broker then handed Plaintiff another pacgketiocuments and told Plaintiff that t
packet contained copies of the documents that Plaintiff had just signed.

The packet of documents handedRm@intiff and represented by the

mortgage broker to be copies oetdocuments that Plaintiff had just

signed were not exact copies of the documents that Plaintiff had 'signed
and instead, contained three copiethef Notice of Right To Cancel for
each loan with incorrect dates andriidines for the date of expiration of

the right to cancel. All copies ofetNotices of Right To Cancel received

by Plaintiff contained an incorrect date for the “date of the transaction”,
l.e., May 23, 2007, and did not cont#ne date of expiration of the right
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to cancel, i.e., the space was left blank.
Id. at 8-9.

Shortly after Plaintiff consummated thansactions, servicing for both the Fi[[st

Loan and Second Loan was transferreddar@rywide Home Loans, Inc., which la
became known as Bank of America. In 20B8nk of America identified Freddie M4
as the assignee/owner of the First LoaBank of America never identified tk
assignee/owner of the Second Loan.

On March 28, 2009, Plaintiff mailedRescission Notice pursuant to 15 U.S|

er
LC

e

C.

8 1635 and a Qualified Written Requestguant to 12 U.S.C. 82605 to Countrywide

Home Loans, Inc. and Mortgage Invast Group. Bank of America has failed
respond to the Rescission Notice and Qual¥iéitten Request in the manner requi
by law.

“The Rescission Notice received by defendant BofA provided that Pl3
disputed the debts, was represented bgtemmney and all communications regard
the debts were to be directed to Plaintiff's attorndg.”at 10. “From after March 2§
2009 through early 2013, despite knowing tRktintiff was represented by couns
defendant BofA attempted to commun&aind communicated with Plaintiff ¢
numerous occasions in an attemptatiect the disputed debtsld. “From March 28,
2009 through present, defendant BofA hiésmapted on numerous occasions to col
fees and charges that are not lawfully péed to be added tthe alleged debt.1d.
at 10-11. In early 2013, defendant Bothrough its representative/employee cam
Plaintiff's residence when Plaintiff was not present and communicated inforn
about the disputed debt to Plaintiff’'s roommat&d” at 11.

On March 11, 2010, Plaintiff and Defendants entered into a written tg
agreement to allow time for the partiegiglore settlement options and negotiatic
On July 23, 2012, Plaintiff received notitem Bank of America that the Second Lo
was forgiven “as a result dhe Department of Justi@nd State Attorneys Genel
global settlement with major mortgagesees, including Bank of America, N.AJd.
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at 13. On October 8, 2013, Bank Afmerica and Freddie Mac gave notice
termination of the Tolling Agreement as Nbvember 13, 2013. Plaintiff filed th
Complaint on November 12, 2013, prior to the expiration of the Tolling Agreen

As a result of Defendants’ failuresaot in compliance #h TILA, RESPA, and
the California Rosenthal Act, Plaintiff faguffered emotional distress and has “sj
at least 20 hours of time compiling infortime and completing deast 12 separal
Loan Modification Applications” for Bank of Americdd. at 15.

The FAC asserts three claims: (1) violation of the Truth in Lending
(“TILA"), 15 U.S.C. 88 1601et seq.against Freddie Mac and MERS; (2) violatior
the California Rosenthal Act (‘RFDCPA”), Cal Civ. Code 88 17&8seq, against
Bank of America; and (3) violation dhe Real Estate Settlement Procedures
(“RESPA”), 12 U.S.C. § 260kt seq. against Bank of America. The FAC reque
declaratory relief, injunctive relief, ands@ssion on the TILA claim, and statutc
damages, actual damages, attoshésges, and costs on all claims.
. 12(b)(6) Standard

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6)ymés dismissal for “failure to stat
a claim upon which relief can lgganted.” Fed. R. Civ. A2(b)(6). Federal Rule ¢
Civil Procedure 8(a) provides that “[a]galding that states a claim for relief m
contain ... a short and plain statement ef¢laim showing that the pleader is entit
to relief.” Fed. R. Civ. PB(a)(2). Dismissal under Rul2(b)(6) is appropriate whe
the complaint lacks a cognizable legal themrgufficient facts to support a cogniza

legal theory.See Balistreri v. Pacifica Police Dep301 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1990).

“[A] plaintiff's obligation to provide tle ‘grounds’ of his ‘entitle[ment] to relief
requires more than labels and conclusiamg] a formulaic recitaon of the element
of a cause of action will not doBell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y650 U.S. 544, 555 (2007
(quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)). “Torswe a motion to dismiss, a complaint mi

contain sufficient factual matter, acceptedirag, to ‘state a claim to relief that |i

plausible on its face.”Ashcroft v. Igbgl556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quotiigrombly
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550 U.S. at 570). “A claim has facial psahility when the plaintiff pleads factu
content that allows the cotwatdraw the reasonable inference that the defendant is
for the misconduct alleged.ld. (citation omitted). “[T]hetenet that a court mu
accept as true all of the allegations contdiirea complaint is inapplicable to leg
conclusions. Threadbare r&ts of the elements of @ause of action, supported
mere conclusory statements, do not suffickel” (citation omitted). “When there a
well-pleaded factual allegations, a cowstiould assume their veracity and th
determine whether they plausibly girrge to an entitlement to reliefld. at 679. “In

sum, for a complaint to survive a motiordismiss, the non-conclusory factual conte

and reasonable inferences from that contanist be plausibly suggestive of a cla

entitling the plaintiff to relief.”Moss v. U.S. Secret Sery72 F.3d 962, 969 (9th Cir.

2009) (quotations and citation omitted).
V. Discussion

A. TILA

The FAC alleges two counts in supporfdintiff's first claim for violation of
TILA against Freddie Mac and MERS. Couwrte alleges that the First Loan w
subject to Plaintiff's right of resssion, as described by 15 U.S.C. § 1635
Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 226.28ount one alleges thataitiff did not receive al

required material disclosureshich gave Plaintiff a continag right to rescind the Fir$

Loan for up to three years after consumpraif the transaction. Count one furtf
alleges that Plaintiff timely exercised loigtion to rescind the First Loan on March
2009. Count two of the TA claim seeks damages for Freddie Mac’s and ME
alleged failure to comply with TILA’s sission provisions in response to Plaintif
March 28, 2009 rescission notice.

Defendants contend that Plaintiff's TILAaim must be dismissed because
claim is insufficiently pled for the followig reasons: rescission is not available

residential mortgage transawts or refinancing transactions; Plaintiff fails to alle

credible tender; and Plaintiff has waivedight to rescissionDefendants also conter
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that Plaintiff has failed to sufficientlyllage any TILA violation because Plaintiff
allegations remain vague aodnclusory and “fails a® Defendants Freddie Mac a
MERS because he still does adiege any facts showirigey had any involvement i

the origination of Plaintiff's First Loan.([ECF No. 21-1 at 17). Defendants contg

that Plaintiff's damages allegations are conclusory and that Plaintiff must
detrimental reliance. Defendlis request that Plaintiff BILA claim be dismissed witl
prejudice.

Plaintiff contends that the loan tranBans at issue are not residential mortg
transactions or refinancing transactionattare exempt from TILA’s requiremen
Plaintiff contends that it need naflege credibléender, citingverritt v. Countrywide
Fin. Corp, 759 F.3d 1023, 1029-33 (9th Cir. 2014), and that he has alleged cf
tender by offering to sell theibject property to tender theqameeds. Plaintiff contend
that Defendant relies on inapplicable state in contending that Plaintiff has waiv¢
his right to rescission. &htiff contends that the FAC and the loan documents
Defendant seeks judicial notice of demoatgithat MERS was involved in the origir
loan transaction and that [Eicie Mac can be liable as amssignee.” (ECF No. 22 ;
24). Plaintiff contends that he need platad detrimental reliance for seeking dama

solely based on Defendantsiltaie to respond to or hon®laintiff's rescission notics.

I. Rescission of Residential Mortgages and Mortgage
Refinancing Transactionsunder TILA
Defendants contend that Plaintiff is eaititled to rescission under TILA becal
the First Loan is a “residential mortgagansaction,” as defined by 15 U.S.C. seci
1602(x), which is excluded from the righit rescission under section 1635(e). (E
No. 21-1 at 12-13). Defendants contend Biaintiff is not entitled to rescission und
TILA because the First Loas a “refinance transactiornihich is also excluded fror,
the right of rescission under section 1635(e). Plaintiff contends that the First L
not a “residential mortgage transactidmécause it was not made to “purchase
acquire” Plaintiff's residence. (ECF No. 22 19). Plaintiff contends that the Fi
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Loan is a refinance transaction “by asnereditor” and therefore not excluded
section 1635(e)ld.
15 U.S.C. section 1635(a) provides, in relevant part:
Except as otherwise provided in tection, in the case of any consumer
credit transaction ﬁmclu_dlng opening increasing the credit limit for an
open end credit plan) in which a security interest, including any_such
interest arising by operat of law, is or will beretained or acquired in
any property which 'is used as t_anuiaal dwelling of the person to
whom credit is extended, the obligsmall have the right to rescind the
transaction....
15 U.S.C. § 1635(a). Regulation Z similarlypwides that “[ijn a credit transaction
which a security interest is or will be retad or acquired in a consumer’s princij
dwelling, each consumer whosenership interest is orilvbe subject to the securit
interest shall have the rigtat rescind the transaction,@pt for transactions describ
in paragraph (f) of this section.” 12 C.F.8226.23(a)(1). Certain transactions

excluded from the right to rescission, inclugti “[a] residential mortgage transacti

as defined in section 1602(w) ... [and]ansaction which constitess a refinancing gr

consolidation (with no new advances) of pnecipal balance then due and any accr

by

hal

y
ad
are

PN

ued

and unpaid finance charges of an exis@x¢ension of credit by the same creditor

secured by an interest in the same propertyl5’U.S.C. § 1635(e3ee alsd 2 C.F.R.
8§ 226.23(f) (“The right to rescind does napply to ... [a] residential mortgas
transaction ... [or] [a@] refinancing ... by tkame creditor of an extension of cre
already secured by the consumer’s princgbaélling. The right of rescission sh:

je
dit

Al

apply, however, to the extent the newcamt financed exceeds the unpaid principal

balance, any earned unpaiddnce charge on the existidgbt, and amounts attributs
solely to the costs of the refinancing @ynsolidation”). Section 1602(x) define
“residential mortgage transaction” as afigaction in which a mortgage, deed of trt
purchase money security interest arisungder an installment sales contract,
equivalent consensual security interestrisated or retained against the consum

! 15 U.S.C. section 1602(w), referred to in 15 U.S.C. section 16358e) 1)

redesignated section 1602%()7 of this thie Pub.L. 111-203Title X, 8 1100A(1)(A),
July 2T, 2010, 124 Stat. 2107.
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dwelling to finance the acquisition or initiednstruction of such dwelling.” 15 U.S.
8 1602(x).

The FAC alleges that the “funds from thaifisactions were used to pay off
existing prior mortgages secured by Pldfistprimary residence/dwelling, which we
originated by a different creditor, First Franklin Home Loans, and not Mort
Investors Group.” (ECF No. 20 at 7). Theutt finds that the allegations of the FA
do not show that the loan transactionssitie are “residential migage transactions

he
e
gage
\C

as defined in 15 U.S.C. section 1602(x)jathare excluded from rescission by section

1635(e)(1). The facts alleged do not shthat the loans were to “finance t

ne

acquisition or initial construction” of Plaintiff's dwelling. 15 U.S.C. § 1602(x). [The

Court further finds that the allegations of the FAC do not show that the
transactions at issue are excluded fr@scission by sectioh635(e)(2) because tf
FAC alleges that the loan transactions Wergginated by a different creditor,” not “th
same creditor.” (ECF No. 20 at 7); 15 U.S.C. § 1605(e3&8;also Harris v. OSI Fir
Servs., InG.595 F. Supp. 2d 885, 889-90 (N.D. Ill. 2009) (“[The] right to rescinc
entire amount of the loan am@s even in a case whereethorrower is seeking a 10z

to refinance an existing loan from a differpnior creditor.”). The Court concludes th

loar

=

e
e
).
the
AN

at

the allegations of the FAC shdhat the loans atissue do not fall within the transactions

excluded from the right to rescission pursuant to 15 U.S.C. section 16

35(e

Defendants’ motion to dismiss Plaintiff's TILA claim on the ground that the loans at

issue are not covered by TILA is denied.
Ii. Damages

Count two of the TILA claim seekdamages for Freddie Mac’s and MER

alleged failure to comply ith TILA’s rescission provisions in response to Plainti

March 28, 2009 rescission notice. The FAIEges that “[o]n or about March 28, 20(

pursuant to 12 CFR 226.23, Plaintiff exercised his right to rescind the First

Transaction.” (ECF No. 20 48). The FAC further altges that “Defendants Freddi

Mac and MERS failed to prodg respond to Plaintiff's recission notice and failed |
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comply with the rescission provisions of 12 CFR 226.281"
Defendants contend that Plaintiff's dagea allegations a®nclusory and tha

Plaintiff must plead detrimentedliance. Defendants citeltore Smith289 F.3d 115%

(9th Cir. 2002) for the proposition that apitiff must plead and prove detrimen
reliance to recover damages under TILA.aiRtff contends that it need not ple

detrimental reliance for seekj damages solely based orf@wlants’ failure to respond

to or honor Plaintiff's rescissn notice. Plaintiff cites thyon v. Chase Bank US|
N.A, 656 F.3d 877, 887 (9th Cir. 2011) for gpr@position that detrimental reliance
TILA cases need only be shown where them is based on misrepresentationg
inadequate or missing disclosures.

15 U.S.C. section 1640(a) provides, in valet part, that “any creditor who fai
to comply with any requiraent imposed under this part, including any requirer
under section 1635 of this title ... is liablestech person in an amount equal to the |
of ... any actual damage sustained by suclopeaxs a result of theifare ... [and] in the
case of an individual action relating to adit transaction not under an open end cr
plan that is secured by real property or a dwelling, not less than $400 or greal
$4,000....” 15U.S.C. § 1640(a). Imre Smith a bankruptcy court awarded the del
statutory damages for a violation of W5S.C. section 1638(a)(3) & (4) for failing

“conspicuously disclose anmtkfine the ‘finance chargand ‘annual percentage rate

in mortgage loan documents. 289 F.3dHi6. The bankruptcy court found that |
debtor was not entitled to actual damagesaise “she failed to show ... any acil
damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a)(1)d: at 1157. The Ninth Circuit Court ¢
Appeals affirmed, reasoning that “[w]e joather circuits and hold that in order
receive actual damages ®TILA violation,i.e., ‘an amount awarded to a complain
to compensate foproven injury or loss,’ [citation.], a borrower must establ
detrimental reliance.’ld. (citing Black’s Law Dictionary 394 (7th ed. 1999)).
InLyon the defendant admitted to violagi15 U.S.C. section 1666(a) by “failir
to provide a written explanation in respotsthe plaintiff's] billing dispute” and by

-9- 13cv2719-WQH-JMA

t

D
tal
nd

A,

n

b Or

Is
nent

5UM

~




© 00 N O 0o A W N P

N NN N DNNDNNDNDRRRRR R R B B
0w N O 0~ W N PFP O © 0N O 0O M W N R O

“attempting to collect the dputed charge and reporting it as delinquent to ¢
agencies.” 656 F.3d at 889 he defendant neverthelesmtended that “evidence
detrimental reliance” was required for thaipliff to recover actual damages” unds
15U.S.C. section 1640(a). The Ninth Circunutt of Appeals rejected that contentig
reasoning that in the case of a violatiminsection 1666(a), “[tlhere is simply 1
relevant disclosure or condumder these circumstances that [the plaintiff] could K
relied upon.”ld. at 887. “If [the defendant’s] gument were to be followed in cas
of defiant refusal to comply with § 1666(38)(B), [the defendahhas discovered tha
silence is truly golden.Td. “To require evidence of detrimental reliance on an unn
explanation would necessaribar recovery of actual deages because such evide
could never exist.”ld. at 887-88.

In this case, Plaintiff requests staiyt damages in addan to actual damage

in count two of Plaintiff's TILA claim. Seel5 U.S.C. § 1640(a) (providing for bath

actual damages and statutory dansafm violations of section 1635kee alsg
Stephenson v. Chase Home Fin. |.NG. 10cv2639, 2011 WL 2006117, at*3, *5 (S
Cal. May 23, 2011) (finding that the failure adequately allege actual damages
violations of 15 U.S.C. sections 18812) and 1635 is “an insufficient ground f
dismissal’ because “Plaintiffs are entitkedstatutory damages pursuant to 15 U.S
Section 1640(a)(2)(A)(iv)”). The Court neredt resolve whether Plaintiff must ple
or prove “detrimental reliance” to seaktual damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C. seq
1640(a) for an alleged violation of 13.S.C. section 1635 or determine whet
Plaintiff's allegations of actual damagase too conclusory. Defendants’ motion
dismiss count two of Plaintiff's TILA claim is denied.
ii. Tender

Defendants contend that Plaintiff’'s TILA claim must be dismissed beg
Plaintiff must allege a crediblertder. (ECF No. 21-1 at 15) (citindamamoto v. Ban
of N.Y, 329 F.3d 1167, 1171 (9th Cir. 2003)). Defants contend that Plaintiff's offe
to sell the subject property is “spedida and conditioned on Plaintiff selling tf
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Property at the amount of least $324,000.00 which represents the amount of t
Loan secured by Plaintiff.” (ECF No. 21-1 Hs). Plaintiff contends that it is n

required to tender, citingerritt v. Countrywide Fin. Corp759 F.3d 1023, 1029-1022

(9th Cir. 2014). Plaintiff contends thhts allegation offering to sell the home
sufficient.

“[P]laintiffs can state a claim for rescission under TILA without pleading
they have tendered, or thaethhave the ability to tendeéhe value of their loan. Onl

he Fi
Dt

S

that
ly

at the summary judgment stage may a court order the statutory sequence alt¢red

require tender before ression—and then only on a ‘@&aby-case basis,’ ... once t

creditor has established a entially viable defense.”Merritt, 759 F.3d at 1033.
Defendants’ motion to dismiss PlaintiffBILA claim on the ground that it fails to

allege credible tender is denied.
iv. Sufficiency of TILA Violations
Defendants contel that Plaintiff’'s allegationef Defendant Freddie Mac ar

MERS’s TILA violations are “conclusorydnd “hardly ‘specific.” (ECF No. 21-1 at

16). Defendants contend that Plaintiff “dowes allege facts shang that [Defendant
Freddie Mac and MERS] had any involvement in the origination of Plaintiff's
Loan.” Id. at 17. Plaintiff contends that has sufficiently alleged a TILA violatio
because he was provided with Notice & Right to Cancel fons which omitted thg

he

d

—

UJ

First

n

\1%4

expiration date of his right to rescin@laintiff contends that Defendant MERS was

involved in the original loan transactioas confirmed by the original deed of trust,

which is submitted in Defendants’ RequestJodicial Notice. Plaintiff contends thiat

Defendant Freddie Mac can be liable as an assignee.

“TILA and Reg[ulation] Z contain detailed disclosure requirements for cons
loans. A lender’s violation of TILA alles the borrower to rescind a consumer I
secured by the borrower’s primary dwellingg&mar v. Platte Valley Fed. Sav. & Lo
Ass’n 791 F.2d 699, 703 (9th Cir. 1986) (citib§ U.S.C. 8§ 1635(a)). “Reg Z mak
clear that failure to fill in the expiration dakéthe rescission form is a violation of t
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TILA.” Id. (quotation omitted). The omissiontbe expiration date, “though a pure

<

technical violation of TILA,” entitles theamsumer “to rescind the loan agreement for

up to three years, without regardibether the omission was materiald. (citations
omitted). 15 U.S.C. section 1635(b) provides thatithin 20 days after receipt of

el

notice of rescission, the creditor shall rettathe obligor any money or property given

as earnest money, downpayment, or otheryasd shall takeng action necessary or

appropriate to reflect the termination ahy security interest created under
transaction.” 15 U.S.C. § 1635(b). 15 U.Ss€ction 1641(a) provides for liability
assignees of creditors as follows:

Except as otherwise specifically provided in this subchapter, any civil
action for a violation of this subcpter or_proceedm(_:t; under section 1607
of this title which may be brought against a creditor may be maintained
against any assignee of such credmaly if the violation for'which such
action or proceeding is brought is apparent on the face of the disclosure
statement, except where the assigntwas involuntary. For the purpose
of this section, a viot&on apParent on the face of the disclosure statement
includes, but is not limited to gl) asgiosure which can be determined to
be incomplete or inaccurate from tfaee of the disclosure statement or
other documents assigned, or (2)scthsure which does not use the terms
required to be used by this subchapter.

15 U.S.C. § 1641(a).
The FAC alleges that “[ijn 2010, defemda@ofA identified defendant Fredd
Mac as the assignee/owner of the First LoafieCF No. 20 at 9). The FAC alleg

that Defendant MERS is a ciiemt or an assignee of the lodocuments at issue. The

FAC alleges that on May 24, 2007, wheaiRliff was signing the documents for t

the
f

O

e
€S

he

loans at issue, a mortgageker provided Plaintiff with “three copies of the Noticq of

Right to Cancel for each loan with incect dates and blank lines for the datg of
expiration of the right to cancelld. at 8. The FAC alleges that on March 28, 2Q09,

Plaintiff mailed a Notice of Rescission tohtrywide Home Loans, Inc. and Mortg

ge

Investors Group. The FAC alleges titsfendants Freddie Mac and MERS “have

failed and refused, and continue to fail and refusgrdperly respond to the rescissi
notice by performing the acts required by 15 U.S.C. § 1635(ld).at 10. The FAC
alleges that “Defendants have failed to take any action necessary or approp
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reflect the termination of any security irgst created under the First Loan Transaction,

including the termination of the deed of trescorded against &ntiffs’ Residence, a
required by 15 U.S.C. § 1635(b) and Reg Z § 226.23(d)(d).at 17.

The Court finds that the FAC plausildjleges a right toescission by allegin
that the expiration date was omitted frtme Notice of Right To Cancel provided
the mortgage brokeiSemay 791 F.2d at 703. The Court finds that the FAC plaug
alleges a violation of section 1635(b) a&eging that Defendants Freddie Mac &
MERS, as assignees of the First Loan, Hailed to take actionectessary to termina

the security interest creatbg the First Loan TransactiénSeel5 U.S.C. § 1641(a).

Construing the allegations of the FAC in ghli most favorable to the plaintiff, th
Court concludes that the FAC statesaugible claim for violation of TILA.

Defendants’ motion to dismiss Plaintiffisst claim for violation of TILA on the
ground that Plaintiff has failed to adequately allege a TILA violation against Defer
Freddie Mac and MERS is denied.

v. Waiver of Rescission Right

Defendants contend that Plaintiff hasiveal his right to rescind because
concedes he received the proceeds fronicidues at issue and has been living on
property ever sinceDefendants cit&ill v. Rich 128 Cal. App. 4th 1254, 1264 (200
and California Civil Code sections 35Hnd 3521 in support of this contentic
Plaintiff contends that the state law iwex doctrine that Defendants rely upon
inapplicable to TILA claims for rescission.

12 C.F.R. section 226.23, the Regulation Z provision governing the rig
rescission, provides that“consumer may modify or waive the right to rescind if
consumer determines that the extension@ditis needed to meet a bona fide pers
financial emergency.” 12 C.F.R. 8§ 226.28{8. This provision provides no oth
circumstances in which a consumer may wéneeright to rescindDefendants cite n

2 Defendants have cited no authofidythe proposition that Defendants Fred
Mac and MERS must be involved in origiimm to be liable for failing to terminat
security interests created undee fhrst Loan transaction.
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TILA authority for the proposition that ansumer may waive the right to resciss

on

by receiving the benefit of a loan. Defendants’ motion to dismiss Plaintiff's TILA

claim on waiver grounds is denied.
vi. Conclusion
Defendants’ motion to dismiss Plaintiff's first claim for violation of TILA
denied.
B. RESPA

Plaintiff's third claim alleges that Defendant Bank of America violated

RESPA provisions after Plaintiff sent Datéant Bank of America a Qualified Writte

Request. Plaintiff allegesdahhe suffered emotional distress and lost time as a
of Defendant Bank of America’alleged RESPA violations.
I. Alleged RESPA Violations
Plaintiff alleges that Dfendant Bank of America Baviolated RESPA in five
regards: (1) failing to prode a written response acknowleagreceipt of the Qualifie

Written Request, in violation of 12 U.S.€&ction 2605(e)(1)(A); (2) failing to provide

Plaintiff with a written explanation or clarification as to why Defendant Ban
America believed Plaintiff’'s account was aaet, along with contact information for
Bank of America representative that could pda/laintiff with assistance, in violatid
of 12 U.S.C. section 2605(e)(2)(A); (3) faly to provide Plaintiff with a writtel
explanation or clarification of informatiaequested by Plaintiff, or an explanation
why that information was urailable, along with contact information with someons
assist Plaintiff, in violation of 12 U.S.Gection 2605(e)(2)(C); (4) refusing to ceass
collection efforts after receiving PlaintiffQualified Written Request, in violation
12 U.S.C. section 2605(e)(2); and (5) pdiwg information to consumer reportir
agencies regarding overdueyp®ents allegedly owed by Pidiff that were related f
his Qualified Written Request, in violation of 12 U.S.C. section 2605(e)(3).
Defendant Bank of America contends tRddintiff's allegations of Defendar
Bank of America failing to respond to Plaffis Qualified Written Request are “vagu
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and conclusory” and are “insufficient to ageitely plead a cause of action for violat

of RESPA.” (ECF No. 21-1 at 21). Defend&aink of America contends that Plaintiff

has failed to allege sufficiéfacts showing that his Qlfeed Written Request complie
with RESPA. Plaintiff contends that the FAC sufficiently identifies four RES
violations.

“[A] qualified written request shall beritten correspondence, other than nof
on a payment coupon or other payment medium supplied by the servicer,

includes, or otherwise enabl¢he servicer to identify, the name and account of

borrower; and ... includes a statement ofrdesons for the belief of the borrower,
the extent applicable, that the account igiror or provides sufficient detail to tl
servicer regarding other information soubithe borrower.” 12 U.S.C. 8§ 2605(e)(

“If any servicer of a federally related mgage loan receivesqualified written reques

from the borrower (or an agent of the borroyer information reléing to the servicing
of such loan, the servicer shall provaleritten response acknowledging receipt of
correspondence within 20 days ... unlessabtgon requested is taken within su
period.” 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(1)(A).

Not later than 60 day@®xcluding Ie%al public Hmays, Saturdays, and
Sundays) after the receipt fromyaborrower of any qualified ‘written
request under paragraphfﬂnd, if applicablebefore taking any action

with respect to the inquiry of the sower, the servicer shall ... (A) make
appropriate corrections in the acmt of the borrower, including the
crediting of any late charﬁes or p#ies, and transmit to the borrower a
written notification of suc correctlc(%/fhlch shall include the name and
telephone number of a representamfethe servicer who can provide
assistance to the borrower) ... [o_rg (C) after conducting an investigation,
provide the borrower with’ a written” explanation or clarification that
Includes ... information reques_teg@t%e borrower or an exPIanatlon of
why the information requested is able or cannot be obtained by the
servicer; and ... the name and telephamaber of an individual emp_lotyed
by, or the office or department ofgtservicer who can provide assistance
to the borrower.”

_ 3 A provision of the Dodd-Frank Act redfnshortened the applicable period
five days, which took eéict on January 10, 201Berneike v. CitiMortgage, Inc708
F.3d 1141, 1145 n.3 (10th Cir. 2013). Thedd-Frank Act amended other portions
section 2605. The Dodd-Frank Act is not retroactiveCauley v. Home Loan In}
Bank 710 F.3d 551, 554 n. 2 (4th Cir. 201Because the RESPA violations alleg
in the FAC occurred prior thanuary 10, 2014, the Court cite and applies the versic
of section 2605 immediately preceding the Dodd-Frank Act amendments.
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27
28

12 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(2)(A), (C).“During the 60-day period beginning on the daté¢

the servicer’s receipt from any borrower of a qualified writtequest relating to
dispute regarding the borrower's paymeatservicer may not provide informati
regarding any overdue payment, owed by such borrougeredating to such period ¢
gualified written request, tang consumer reporting agency (as such term is de

under section 1681a of Title 15)22 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(3). If a loan servicer fail$

comply with the provisions of 12 U.S.€.2605, a borrower is entitled to “any act
damages to the borrower as a result ofdiiare” and “any additional damages, as
court may allow, in the case of a patten practice of noncompliance with tl
requirements of [12 U.S.C. § 2605],an amount not to exceed $1,00012 U.S.C,
8 2605(f)(2).

The FAC alleges that on March 28, 20@3aintiff sent Countrywide Home

Loans, Inc. (now Bank of America) aMbrtgage Investors Gup a Qualified Writter
Request. The Qualified Written Requesttia@hed as Exhibit D to the FAC, whig
states, in relevant part:

P&Jursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1641(f)(2) and 12 U.S.C. 8§ 2605, A
ALIFIED WRITTEN REQUEST ’ishereby made for the name,
address, and telephone nu he master servicer, all current mortgage
holders, all current note/loan holdeasid all current owners of the loan
described above. FurthermofeQUALIFIED WRITTEN REQUEST is
made for all signed and/or unsig ies of the following documents,

if they exist, relating to the above reterenced loan:

All Notices of Right to Cancel;

HUD-1 Disclosures;

Truth in Lending Act Disclosures;

The Entire Note(s);

Deeds of Trust;

All riders to any of the above documents; _

. A History of Paymentand other document showing the
loan disbursements, loan charges, payments made, and
current principal balance due;

8. The Entire Loan Origination File(s); and

9. All correspondence relating to the Loan(s).

(ECF No. 20 at 45-46). The FAC alleghat Defendant Bank of America did n

NOUTR WM

* Effective January 10, 2014, the &ipable period is thirty days.
> Effective January 10, 2014, the statutory maximum is increased to $2,(
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provide Plaintiff with written correspondea acknowledging receipt of the Qualified
Written Request within twenty days of rqaeiThe FAC allegethat Defendant did nqt
“provide Plaintiff with a written explanatioor clarification that included a statement

of the reasons for which BofA believeattaccount was correct as determined by B

and provide the name and tefmne number of an individual department that could
provide assistance to Plaintiff” or “prae Plaintiff with a written explanation
clarification that included information requedtby Plaintiff or an explanation of why
the information requested was unavailable or could not benelltdly BofA and th
name and telephone nuntod an individual or department that could provide Plaintiff
with assistance.”ld. at 11-12. The FAC allegesait) “[d]uring the 60 day perio
beginning on the date that BofA receivediRliff's Rescission Notice/QWR, Plaintiff
is informed and believed atltereon alleges that BofA@rided information regardin
overdue payments, allegedly owed by Ri#fimnd relating to Plaintiff's Rescissi
Notice/QWR, to a consumer reporting agenchd’ at 12.

The allegations of the FAC and Exhild to the FAC plausibly show that
Plaintiff sent a Qualified Written Request@ountrywide Home Loans, Inc. on Margh
28, 2009 that “provides sufficient detail to the servicer reggrdther informatior
sought by the borrower” by requesting specific documents. 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(1
By alleging that Defendant Bank of Amesatdid not respond to the Qualified Written
Request within twenty days of receipt, the FAC alleges sufficient facts to plafsibl
support the conclusion that Defendant Bank of America violated 12 U.S.C. sectio
2605(e)(1)(A). Construing the allegationgtoé FAC in a light most favorable to the
plaintiff, the Court concludes that Plaiifithas stated a claim for violating 12 U.S|C.
section 2605(e)(1)(A).

By alleging that Defendar@ank of America did not provide the informatipn
requested or otherwise respond to Plaintifguest within 60 days, the FAC alleges
sufficient facts to make plausible thenclusion that Defendant Bank of AmeriEa

violated section 2605(e)(2)(C). The Court dades that Plaintiff has stated a plausiple

-17 - 13cv2719-WQH-JMA
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claim for violating 12 U.S.C. section 2605(e)(2)(C).

The FAC fails to allege sufficient fecto support the conclusion that Defendant

violated section 2605(e)(2)(A) by failing tonake appropriate corrections in t

account of the borrower, including the craditiof any late chargeor penalties, and

transmit to the borrower a written notification of such correction.” 12 U.S|

2605(e)(2)(A). The Qualified Written Requekies not state that “the account ig i
error,” and the FAC does not allege faaisusibly suggesting that Defendant Bank

America was nevertheless required to “magpropriate corrections in the accoun
the borrower, including the crediting of alage charges or penalties, and transm
the borrower a written notification of sl correction.” 12 U.S.C. 88 2605(e)(
(e)(2)(A). The Court concludes that Pl#inhas failed to allege sufficient facts
support a claim for violation of 12 U.S.C. section 2605(e)(2)(A).

The Court finds that the conclusoliegation that Plaintiff believes Defenda
Bank of America provided information reglang overdue payments to a consur
reporting agency is insufficient to plausilgive rise to the inference that Defend
Bank of America violated 12 U.S.C. secti@d®05(e)(3). The Court further finds th
the allegation that Defendant violatéd U.S.C. section 2605(e)(2) “by refusing
cease its collection efforts after receiviPlgintiff's qualified written request” does n
state a claim that is plausible on its fa&ee Menashe v. Bank of New Y&%O0 F.

Supp. 2d 1120, 1133-34 (D. Haw. 2012) (“Asiaitial matter, 8 2605(e) on its fa¢

includes no requirement that a servicer ceaflection efforts. Rather, after receivi

tto
),

fo

=

nt
ner
ANt
at
to
Dt

e
19

the QWR, within sixty days, the loan servicer must either (1) make appropriat

corrections to the borrower's accoundanotify the borrower of the correction i

writing, 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(2)(A), (2) provitlee borrower with a written explanatig
or clarification stating the reasons why thervicer believes the borrower's accourt

correct, id. 8 2605(e)(2)(B), or (3) providestmformation to the borrower or explai
why such information is unavailable. 8§ 2605(e)(2)(C). Second, even if Plainti

could state a claim for failure to cease edlion efforts, Plaintiff provides no fac
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suggesting that BANA did indeed camiie collection efforts during the 60—d

period—the SAC does not allege whallection efforts BANA took and when the
occurred.”). The Court concludes that Pldiritas failed to plausilylallege a violatior

gy
y

of 12 U.S.C. section 2605(e)(3) or a vioda of 12 U.S.C. section 2605(e)(2) to the

extent it is premised on Defendantsfusal to cease collection efforts.

Defendants’ motion to dismiss Plaintiff's third claim for RESPA violation
denied as to alleged violations of 12 U.S.C. section 2605, subsections (e)(1)(
(e)(2)(C). Defendants’ motidie dismiss Plaintiff's third claim for RESPA violatior

is granted as to the alleged violationd2fU.S.C. section 2605, subsections (e)(2
and (e)(3), and to an afjed violation of 12 U.S.Cestion 2605(e)(2) for Defenda
Bank of America’s alleged refusal to cease its collection activities.
ii. Damages
Plaintiff alleges two types of dames as a result of Defendant Bank
America’s RESPA violations: emotional distress and lost time. Defendant conten

Plaintiff has failed to allegéacts showing that he hasffered actual and pecunigry

damages. Plaintiff contends that he si§iciently alleged “pecuniary loss in the for
of emotional distress and loss of time suffeas a result of BofA’s failure to provic
him the information he requested.” (ECF No. 22 at 29).

If a loan servicer fails to comply with the provisions of 12 U.S.C. § 26(
borrower is entitled to “any actual damageshi® borrower as a result of the failur

S IS
A) ar
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(A)
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e
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e

and “any additional damaggas the court may allow, inglcase of a pattern or practice

of noncompliance with the requirements[d2 U.S.C. § 2605], in an amount not

to

exceed $1,000°"12 U.S.C. § 2605(f)(1). “Numerowasurts have read Section 2605

as requiring a showing of pecuryatamages to state a claimMolina v. Wash. Mut|

Bank No. 09-CV-894, 2010 WL 431439, at *7 (S.D. Cal. Jan. 29, 2010).
pleading requirement has the effect of limifithe cause of action to circumstance
which plaintiff can show that a failure tespond or give notice has caused them aq

® Effective January 10, 2014, the statutory maximum is increased to $2,(

-19 - 13cv2719-WQH-JMA

This
S in

stual

DOO.




© 00 N O 0o A W N P

N NN N DNNDNNDNDRRRRR R R B B
0w N O 0~ W N PFP O © 0N O 0O M W N R O

harm.” Shepherd v. Am. Home Mortg. Servs.,,INo. 2:09-1916, 2009 WL 4505925,

at *3 (E.D. Cal. Nov. 20, 2009¢itation omitted). “The Ninth Circuit has not deci

ed

whether emotional distress can constitatgual damages’ for purposes of § 2605(f),

and cases are split.Obot v. Wells Fargo Bank, N,ANo. C11-566-HRL, 2011 WI
5243773, at *3 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 2011) (collectingcases). Other Circuit Courts
Appeals that have addressed this isswe lfiaund that emotional distress damages
recoverable for RESPA violationsSee McLean v. GMAC Mortg. Cor@98 Fed

Of

are

App’'x 467, 471 (11th Cir. 2010) (“Construingetterm ‘actual damages’ broadly, and

based on the interpretations‘attual damages’ in other consumer-protection staf
that are remedial in nature, plaintifisguably may recover fmon-pecuniary damage
such as emotional distress anthgnd suffering, under RESPA. Gatalan v. GMAC
Mortg. Corp, 629 F.3d 676, 696 (7th Cir. 2011) (holding that the plaintiff's g
serving deposition testimony regang his alleged emotional distress was sufficier
preclude summary judgment on a RESPA claouston v. U.S. Bank Home Mor
Wis. Servicing505 Fed. App’x 546, 548 n.6 (6thrC2012) (“We find nothing in th
text of 8§ 2605(f), or in RESPA more bag, to preclude ‘actual damages’ frg
including emotional distress damages, proditteat they are adequately proven.”)

A plaintiff is only entitled to recovefor the loss that relates to the RES
violation. Sed_al v. Am. Home Servicing, In&80 F. Supp. 2d 1218, 1223 (E.D. C
2010) (“[T]he loss alleged nstibe related to the RESPA violation itselfTprres v.
Wells Fargo Home Mortg., IncNo. 10-4761, 2011 WL 11506, at *8 (N.D. Cal. J

4, 2011) (“The plaintiff must ... allega causal relationshipetween the alleged

damages and the RESPA violation.”).
The FAC's allegations related tordages resulting from Defendant Bank
America’s alleged RESPA violations are as follows:
Plaintiff’'s emotional distress escatdtand was made more severe by each
of BofA’s noncompliant faures and refusals to gvide Plaintiff with (1)

the rec%uired acknowledgment ﬁnonq@'rance with RESPA), (2) the
requested information (noncompliarvegh RESPA), and (3) the required
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written explanation or clarificains (noncompliance with RESPA).
BofA'’s failure to comply with RESPA caused Plaintiff to suffer frustration
because he was unable to obtamiormation, including payment
information from BofA to make detminations about disputed amounts
and what was owed; uncertainnger, fear, and sadness because without
the information, including payment information, Plaintiff was left in a
state of limbo and at an informatidusadvantage, which contributed to
Plaintiff submitting at least 12 Loan Modification Aﬁpllcatlons to BofA
in futility. Plaintiff's emotional distressscalated further and was made
even more severe by BofA’s unlawful collection actions. BofA’s unlawful
collection practices caused Plaintiff to suffer fear, frustration,
embarrassment, worry, sadness, amgjer from BofA’s third party
communications and disclosures, unlawful increase in the amount of the
debt, and continued direct communioa and harassment. The emotional
toll suffered by Plaintiff increased with each failure and refusal to comply
and/or with each violation of lalwy Defendants. The emotional distress
caused by Defendantsttions additionally caused Plaintiff ailments in the
form of loss of concentration, degsgon, stomach ailments, weight gain,
nausea, anxiety, insomnia, and social withdrawal.

25. After the time had passed for BofA to respond to Plaintiff's
Rescission Notice/QWR, Plaintiff, who is an independent N
contractor/real estate agent, spanleast 20 hours of time compiling
information and completing at ldas2 separate Loan Modification
Applications for BofA.

(ECF No. 20 at 14-15). The Court finds ttreg FAC has alleged sufficient facts givi
rise to the plausible inference that Ptdirhas suffered emotional distress as a re

ng
sult

of Defendant Bank of America’s alleged RESPA violations. Defendants’ motion tc

dismiss Plaintiff's third claim for violatins of RESPA on the ground that the FAC f;
to allege sufficient facts demondirey Plaintiffs damages is denied.

C. RFDCPA

Plaintiff's second claim alleges that feadant Bank of America violated thr
provisions of the RFDCPA and nine prowiss of the Federal Fair Debt Collecti
Practices Act, which are actionable under®FDCPA, California Civil Code sectid
1788.17, in relation to Defendant Bank of Amars servicing of the loans at issu
Specifically, Plaintiff's second claimllages that Defendant Bank of Americ
communicated with Plaintiff's roommategarding the loans at issue, communics
with Plaintiff directly, despite knowing th&tlaintiff was represented by an attorn
used deceptive methods to collect on the loans at issue, attempted to collect U
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amounts from Plaintiff, and communicated false credit information.
Defendant Bank of America contendsaththe RFDCPA is inapplicable
residential mortgage loan®efendant contends that Plaihfails to allege sufficient
facts to state a RFDCPA claim in four regarBigst, Defendant contends that Plain
“does not plead specific factual detailtateng to any of the alleged communicatic
[by Bank of America], such as when thegre made, by whom they were made,

[0

iff
ns
Aand

under what authority they were madgECF No. 21-1 at 20). Second, Defentrzlrnt

contends that Plaintiff does not identifyetfees and charges that Defendant Ba
America was attempting to collect. Thifdefendant contends that Plaintiff fails
provide any factual support for his allegattbat Defendant used false representat
in connection with its debt collectiontaaty. Finally, Defendant Bank of Americ
contends that Plaintiff does not allegmy facts demonstrating the “unfair
unconscionable means” that Defendant Barfkmoérica used to collect the alleged d
or that Defendant Bank of America attengpte collect amounts of debt not permitt
by law. Id.
Plaintiff contends that Defendant’s cention—that the RFDCPA is inapplical
to residential mortgage loans—is irrelevartause the loan transactions at issug
not residential mortgage loans. Plaintdhtends that he haleged sufficient facts tt
support an RFDCPA claim. Specifically, Piaif contends thahe has alleged th:
Defendant Bank of America attempted to communicate with him and his roor
regarding the alleged delokespite the fact that Defendant Bank of America kney
was represented by counsel.
I. Applicability of the RFDCPA to Residential M ortgage
L oans

Defendant Bank of America contends tR#&iintiff's RFDCPA claim must falil
as a matter of law becausbBétRFDCPA does not applyresidential mortgage loans.

(ECF No. 21-1 at 18, 20). Bendant Bank of America contends that “the activity 1
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Plaintiff complains about here ‘arises aftor exists in connection to’ Plaintiff’
residential loan mortgage, just as Pétacsil v. Wilshire Credit CorpNo. 2:09-cv-
01660, 2010 WL 500466 (E.[xal. Feb. 8, 2010)Id. at 19. Plaintiff contends th;

Defendants contention is irrekent because “the Loan Tisactions are not “Residential

Mortgage Transaction [sic].” (ECF No. 2225). In reply, Defendants contend t
the loans at issue are residential mortgdagas that are not covered by the RFDC
even if they are refinance loans.

The RFDCPA defines “consumer debt™asney, property or their equivalern
due or owing or alleged to be due oriogvfrom a natural pson from such othe

person primarily for personal, family, ¢vousehold purposes.” Cal. Civ. Code

1788.2(f). The RFDCPA defines “debt colien,” in turn, as “any act or practice

connection with the collection of a ‘consunaeibt.” Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 1788.2(b).

This Court has held that foreclosure actiyatysuant to a deed of trust is not gover
by the RFDCPASee Ines v. Countrywide Home Loans,,INo. 08cv1267, 2008 W
4791863, at *3 (S.D. Cal. Nov. 3, 2008) (“Theutt finds that the Complaint arises ¢

sl

nat
DA,

of the allegedly unlawful foreclosure on Pl&ii’s property pursuant to a deed of trust,

which does not fall within the meimg of the RFDCPA or FDCPA.”}see also Saldat
V. Wilshire Credit Corp.711 F. Supp. 2d 1126, 1132 (2010) (“The ‘law is clear
foreclosing on a property pursuant to a deetudt is not a debt collection within th
meaning of the RFDCPA d¢he FDCPA...."") (Quotingsamboa v. Trustee CorpNo.
09-0007, 2009 WL 656285, at*4 (N.D. Cal. Md2, 2009). This case does notinvo
actions to foreclose on Plaintiff's property pursuant to a deed of trust.

Some district courts have further héhét a residential mortgage loan does
fall under the RFDCPA'’s defintin of a “consumer debt.'See Patacsil2010 WL
500466, at *3 (noting that “courts have deetirto regard a residential mortgage I
as a ‘debt’ under the RFDCPA” and holding that the “sending letters, making

calls and making reports” that “all stemrndhe initial residential mortgage loan|...
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does not fall under the purview of the RFDCPAP)ttmanv. Barclays Capital Res
Estate, Inc.No. 09 CV 0241, 2009 WL 110889,*8t(S.D. Cal. Apr. 24, 2009) (“O
a more basic level, even if Plaintiff had pledevant facts, he fails to state a cle
under the Rosenthal Act because a residemortgage loan does not qualify as
“debt” under the statute. The RosenthAat protects consumers from debt collect
practices for ‘consumer debts,’ created thrawghsactions in which ‘property, servic
or money is acquired on credit ... primarily for personal, family, or house
purposes.” Thus, foreclosing on a deed of trust does not invoke the st:

protections.”) (citation omittedf;astaneda v. Saxon Mortg. Servs., 1687 F. Supp|
2d 1191, 1197 (E.D. Cal. 2009) (collectingsea and concluding that “[s]in¢

residential mortgage loardo not fall within the RFDE@A, the court must grar

defendants’ motion to dismiss plaintiff's” RFDCPA clair®pk v. Am. Home Mortg.

Servicing, Inc.No. CIV 2:09-2385, 2010 WL 476674t *3 (E.D. Cal. Feb. 3, 201(
(to same effectfuentes v. Duetsche BarloCVv502, 2009 WL 1971610, at *3 (S.
Cal. July 8, 2009) (to same effect).

In Corvello v. Wells Fargo Bank, NA28 F.3d 878 (9th Cir. 2013), the plainti
alleged that they reached agments with the loan serviagfrtheir mortgages, whic
provided that they would recsd permanent mortga modifications if they complie
with the requirements of their trial periodapk (“TPP”). The plaintiffs alleged th

—

im
5 a
on
es
2hold
Atutol

d
At

they complied with their TPP and should/bdeen offered permanent modifications.

The district court dismissed the plaintiffFDCPA claims on the grounds that the T|

was not false, deceptive, or misleading.e Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals reverse

reasoning:
Wells Fargo contends ... that it svanot engaged in debt collection
activities when it offered the TPP witts concomitant demand for trial
payments. The district court, while dismissing the claim on other grounds,
coirectly recognized that Wells Fangas engaged in debt collection. The
TPP was more than an informatibr@rculation. This is the same
conclusion reached by other district courts.

Id. at 885 (collecting cases).
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Corvelloheld that a mortgage loan servigeas engaged in “debt collection”
connection with residential mortgage loam order for Wells Fargo to have be
engaged in “debt collection” in connemti with a residential mortgage loan,
residential mortgage must qualéis a “consumer debt.”"Debt collection” is definec
by the RFDCPA as “any act or practice&onnection with the collection of @dnsumert
debt” Cal. Code Civ. P. § 1788.2(b) (emphasis added).

This Court agrees with courts whittave concluded that “[n]othing in th
statutory definition excludes a consumebtdeom the Rosenthal Act merely becal
it is secured by real or personal propertin”re Ganas513 B.R. 394, 404 (E.D. Cs
2014);see alsdd. at 406 (finding that if “the Rosenthal Act did not apply to de
which were secured by real property or ¥ehich foreclosure proceedings could

en

e
Ise
1.
bts
be

commenced or were being prosecuted, tieelegislative reasonauld have existed fl

-

enacting California Civil Code § 2924(b)[,]” which “provides a statutory exemption

from the Rosenthal Act for a trustee under a deed of tridtiiarity v. Nationstar
Mortg., LLC No. 1:13-cv-00855, 2013 WL 3354448, at *6 (E.D. Cal. July 3, 2
(noting that the RFDCPA contains a diffetelefinition of “debt” than the feder:
FDCPA and concluding that “there is neason to believe that mortgage debts
exempted from the RFDPCA.... On its facellection of a mortgage loan fits [Tt
RFDCPA's definition of “debt collection”].”).

Under the facts alleged in the FACetGourt cannot conclude that the RFDC
violations alleged in the FAC “arise[] owof the allegedly unlawful foreclosure (
Plaintiff's property pursuant to a deed afdt, which does not fall within the meani
of the RFDCPA....” Ines 2008 WL 4791863, at *3.

N13)

PA
DN

19

The Court does not conclude, as a mattéawf that residential mortgage loans

are exempted from the RFDCPA'’s definitioh“consumer debt” because the loar

secured by real propertfaee Corvellp728 F.3d at 885tn re Ganas513 B.R. at 404t
06; Moriarity, 2013 WL 3354448, at *5-6. Defentdta’ motion to dismiss on the
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ground that the RFDCPA does not coverdestial mortgage loans is denied.

Ii. Section 1788.12 and Section 1788.17 (by violating 15

U.S.C. section 1692c¢(b))

The FAC alleges that Dafdant Bank of America violated section 1788.12

15 U.S.C. section 1692c(b) by communicatinghwrlaintiff's roommate regardin
Plaintiff's alleged debt without Plaiffitis consent: “In early 2013, defendant Bof,
through its representative/employee came tokBf&s residence when Plaintiff was n
present and communicated information about the disputed debt to Pla
roommate.” (ECF No. 20 at 11, 20-21)he FAC further alleges that “BofA]
unlawful collection practices caused PIdirtb suffer fear, frustration, embarrassme
worry, sadness, and anger from BofA’s ¢thrarty communications and disclosure
Id. at 15.

Section 1788.12 prohibits “[clommunicating with the debtor's employe

[clommunicating information regarding a consenmdebt to any member of the debta

family ... [clommunicating t@any person any list of debsowhich discloses the natul:e

or existence of a consumer debt, commdmigwn as ‘deadbeat lists,’ or advertisi
any consumer debt for sale, by naming ttebtor; or ... [cJommunicating with tf
debtor by means of a written communicatioat ttisplays or conveys any informati
about the consumer debt or the deldtirer than the name, address and telepl
number of the debtor....” Cal. Civ. Co8d.788.12(a)-(d). Section 1788.17 provif
that, “[n]otwithstanding any other provisiontbis title, every debt collector collectin
or attempting to collect a consumer deldlsbomply with the provisions of Sectiol
1692b to 1692, inclusive, of, and shall ld®ct to the remedies in Section 1692k
Title 15 of the United States Code.” Cal. Civ. Code § 1788.17. 15 U.S.C. §
1692c(b) provides:

Except as provided in section 1692Mlos$ title, without the prior consent

of the consumer given directly tihe debt collector, or the express
ermission of a court of competentigdiction, or as reasonably necessary

o effectuate a postjudgment judicCial remedy, a debt collector may not

- 26 - 13cv2719-WQH-JMA
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communicate, in connection with tleellection of any debt, with any
person other than the consumer gtisrney, a consumer reportlng_agency
If otherwise permitted by law, the creditthe attorney of the creditor, or
the attorney of the debt collector.

15 U.S.C. § 1692c(h).

The language of section 1788.12 does not prohibit communications with «

debtor’s roommate. The Court finds that fRAC fails to allege any facts plausibly

suggesting that Defendant Bank of Amenmalated section 1788.12. However, the

g
15 U.S.C. section 1692c(b)) because ammoate is “any person other than the

Court finds that the FAC plausibly allegesiolation of section 1788.17 (by violatir

—

consumer, his attorney, a conser reporting agency, ... thiékaney of the creditor, gr
the attorney of the debt lbector.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692c(b3ee also Evon v. Law Offic

11%

S

of Sidney Mickel688 F.3d 1015, 1024 (9th Cir. 2012) (reversing grant of summary

judgment on a 15 U.S.C. section 1692c(b) claim, where a letter addressed to t

plaintiff was sent “care of” the debtors employer, opened by other employees, ar

caused the plaintiff embarrassment).
lii. Section 1788.14(b) and Section 1788.17 (by violating
15 U.S.C. section 1692f(1))

The FAC alleges that Defendant BawfkAmerica violated section 1788.14(p)
because it “attempted to collect fees ahdrges that were not permitted by law....”
(ECF No. 20 at 20). The FAC allegesitiibefendant Bank of America violated [L5
U.S.C. section 1692f(1) by attempting“tmllect amounts not permitted by law jor
contract.” Id. at 22. The FAC alleges thdflrom March 28, 2009 through present,
defendant BofA has attempten numerous occasions tdleot fees and charges that
are not lawfully permitted to bedded to the alleged debtdd. at 10-11.

California Civil Code section 1788.14(b) provides that “[n]o debt collector shall
collect or attempt to colleet consumer debt by means .ofc]ollecting or attempting
to collect from the debtor the whole or any prthe debt collector’s fee or charge for
services rendered, or other expense incubsethe debt collector in the collection |of

- 27 - 13cv2719-WQH-JMA
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the consumer debt, except as permittedaly...” Cal. Civ. Code § 1788.14(b).
U.S.C. section 1692f(1) prohibits “[t]heollection of any amount (including af
interest, fee, charge, or expense incidem the principalbbligation) unless suc
amountis expressly authorized by the age®mreating the debt or permitted by lay
15 U.S.C. § 1692f(1).

The Court concludes that the FAC’'sgug and conclusory allegations tf

nat

Defendant Bank of America attempteddollect unlawful fees are not “pIausibE/

suggestive of a claim entitling the plaintiff to relief” for violations of secti
1788.14(b) or section 1788.17 (by violating 15 U.S.C. section 1692f19%s 572
F.3d at 969.

Iv. Section 1788.14(c) and Section 1788.17 (by violating

15 U.S.C. section 1692c(a)(2))

The FAC alleges that Defendant Bank of America violated section 1788
and 15 U.S.C. section 1692c(a)(2) becauseitifmunicated with Plaintiff after bein
notified in writing that Plaintiff was repreated by an attornegnd all communicatiol
[was] to be directed to Plaintiff's attornéy(ECF No. 20 at 21). California Civil Cod
section 1788.14(c) provides:

[n]o debt collector shall collect @ttempt to collect a consumer debt b
means of ... Q]nltlatlng communicatiorether than statements of account,
with the debtor with regard to tikensumer debt, when the debt collector
has been previously notified in wng by the debtor's attorney that the
debtor is representéed by such attormﬂl% respect to the consumer debt
and such notice includes the attorngyagne and addss and a request b
such attorney that all communications regarding the consumer debt be
addressed to such attorney, w@slethe attorney fails to answer
correspondence, return telephondiscaor discuss the obligation in
guestion. This subdivision shall rexpply where prior approval has been
obtained from the debtor's attorney, or where the communication is a
response in the ordinary course of business to a debtor's inquiry.

Cal. Civ. Code § 1788.14. Similarly, 15S.C. section 1692c(a)(prohibits a deb
collector to communicate directly with alder where “the debt collector knows t
consumer is represented by an attorney reigipect to such debt and has knowledg

-28 - 13cv2719-WQH-JMA
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or can readily ascertain, suattiorney’s name and addee...” 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1692c(a)(?

The FAC alleges that Plaintiff mail@cRescission Notice to Countrywide Hol
Loans, Inc. (now Bank of America) on March 28, 2009 which stated that “Pla
disputed the debts, was represented bgtenmney and all communications regard
the debts were to be directemiPlaintiff's attorney.” (ECF No. 20 at 10). The FA
alleges that “[ffrom afteMarch 28, 2009 through early 2013, despite knowing
Plaintiff was represented by counsel, aefent BofA attempted to communicate &

).

ne
intiff
ng

r—~
—

that
1g[e}

communicated with Plaintiff on numerouscasions in an attempt to collect the

disputed debts.” (ECF N@O at 10). The Court finds that the FAC plausibly alle

ges

a violation of sections 1788.14(cha 1788.17 (by violating 15 U.S.C. sectipn

1692c(a)(2)) by alleging that Bendant Bank of America continued to communic
with Plaintiff directly, in an attempt to ceitt on the disputed loans, after being noti
that Plaintiff was represented by an attorney.
v. Section 1788.17 (by violating 15 U.S.C. sections 1692e,
1692¢(2), 1692¢(10), 1692¢(11), 1692f, 1692f(8))
The FAC alleges that Defendant BankAsherica violated 15 U.S.C. secti(

1692e by using “false, deceptive, or mislegdiepresentation or means in connecfi

with the collection of the debt.” (ECF NBO at 21). The FAGIleges that Defenda
Bank of America violated 15 U.S.C. sexti1l692e(2) by using “false representati
of the character, amount, or legal status of the deld.” The FAC alleges the
Defendant Bank of America violated 15S.C. section 1692e(10) by using “fa

representations or deceptive means to cobeattempt to collect a debt or obtai

information concerning Plaintiff.’ld. at 22. The FAC allegethat Defendant Bank ¢
America violated 15 U.S.C. section 1692e(b¥)failing “to inform Plaintiff in the
initial communication that Defendant BofA wattempting to collect a debt and t
any information obtained will be used tbat purpose or that the communication v
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from a debt collector.'ld. The FAC alleges that Defendant Bank of America violg
15 U.S.C. section 1692f by using “unfair or anscionable means to collect or atter
to collect a debt.”ld. The FAC alleges that Defendant Bank of America violate
U.S.C. section 1692f(8) by communicating “pamal credit information, which it kne
or should have known to bdda, including its failure to communicate that a debt
disputed.” Id. at 22.

These alleged violations consist ofmag more than “labels and conclusior
and “formulaic recitation[s] of the @nents of [ ] cause[s] of actionTwombly 550
U.S. at 555. They are unsupported by factliegations. The Coudoncludes that th
FAC lacks “sufficient factual matter” ®upport the conclusions that Defendant B
of America violated these various prowss of the Federal Fair Debt Collecti
Practices Act.Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678.

vi. Conclusion

Defendants’ motion to dismiss Plaintiff's second claim for violations of
RFDCPA is granted as to alleged viodas of sections 1788.14(b) and 1788.12
1788.17 (by violating 15 U.S.C. semtis 1692e, 1692e(2), 1692e(10), 1692¢(
1692f, 1692f(1), and 1692f(8)). Emdants’ motion to dismiss denied as to allege
violations of section 1788.14(c) and sen 1788.17 (by violating 15 U.S.C. sectio
1692c, subsections (a)(2) and (b)).
V. Conclusion

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Motion to Dismiss (ECF No. 21
GRANTED in part and DENIED in part as follows.

1. The Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's first claim for violation of TILA is

DENIED.

2. Plaintiff’'s second claim for viations of the RFDCPA is DISMISSED

as to alleged violation of seens 1788.14(b) and 1788.12 and section

1788.17 (by violating 15 U.S.Cestions 1692e, 1692e(2), 1692e(10),
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1 1692e(11), 1692f, 1692f(1), and 1692f(8)). The Motion to Dismiss
2 Plaintiff's second claim is DENIED as to alleged violations of section
3 1788.14(c) and section 1788.17 (bphating 15 U.S.C. sections 1692c,
4 subsections (a)(2) and (b)).
5 3. Plaintiff's third claim for violations of RESPA is DISMISSED as to
6 alleged violations of 12 U.S.Cestion 2605, subsections (e)(2)(A) and
7 (e)(3), and as to an alleged vitden of 12 U.S.C. section 2605(e)(2) for
8 Defendant Bank of America’s allegeefusal to cease its collection
9 activities. The Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff’s third claim is DENIED as to

10 alleged violations of 12 U.S.Cestion 2605, subsections (e)(1)(A) and

11 (€)(2)(C).

12| DATED: February 4, 2015

13 i 2. A

WILLIAM Q. HAY

14 United States District Judge
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